E LEGISLATIO	ON COMMITTEE
Tuesday 3 March 200	9

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body 2009. Applications for reproduction should be made in writing to the Licensing Division, Her Majesty's Stationery Office, St Clements House, 2-16 Colegate, Norwich NR3 1BQ Fax 01603 723000, which is administering the copyright on behalf of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Produced and published in Scotland on behalf of the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body by RR Donnelley.

CONTENTS

Tuesday 3 March 2009

	Col.
DECISION ON TAKING BUSINESS IN PRIVATE	499
HEALTH BOARDS (MEMBERSHIP AND ELECTIONS) (SCOTLAND) BILL: AFTER STAGE 2	
SEXUAL OFFENCES (SCOTLAND) BILL: AFTER STAGE 1	
APPRENTICESHIPS, SKILLS, CHILDREN AND LEARNING BILL	
DRAFT INSTRUMENTS SUBJECT TO APPROVAL	
Housing Support Grant (Scotland) Order 2009 (Draft)	511
Advice and Assistance and Civil Legal Aid (Financial Conditions and Contributions) (Scotland)	
Regulations 2009 (Draft)	511
Bankruptcy and Diligence etc (Scotland) Act 2007 (Inhibition) Order 2009 (Draft)	511
Renewables Obligation (Scotland) Order 2009 (Draft)	511
INSTRUMENTS SUBJECT TO ANNULMENT	512
Victim Statements (Prescribed Offences) (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/31)	512
Victim Statements (Prescribed Offences) (No 2) (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/71)	512
Regulation of Care (Miscellaneous Amendments) (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/32)	512
Absent Voting at Scottish Local Government Elections (Provision of Personal Identifiers)	
Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/35)	512
National Health Service (Charges for Drugs and Appliances) (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 20	09
(SSI 2009/37)	513
Non-Domestic Rates (Lewing) (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/42)	513
Housing Revenue Account General Fund Contribution Limits (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/43)	513
Home Energy Assistance Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/48)	513
Advice and Assistance and Civil Legal Aid (Priority of Debts) (Scotland) Regulations 2009	
(SSI 2009/49)	
Registration of Births, Deaths and Marriages (Fees) (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/65)	514
Arrestment Juris diction (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/66)	
Diligence (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/68)	
INSTRUMENTS NOT LAID BEFORE THE PARLIAMENT	
Specified Animal Pathogens (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/45)	
Education (Listed Bodies) (Scotland) Amendment Order 2009 (SSI 2009/60)	
Education (Recognised Bodies) (Scotland) Amendment Order 2009 (SSI 2009/61)	
Act of Sederunt (Rules of the Court of Session Amendment) (Miscellaneous) 2009 (SSI 2009/63)	514

SUBORDINATE LEGISLATION COMMITTEE

8th Meeting 2009, Session 3

CONVENER

*Jamie Stone (Caithness, Sutherland and Easter Ross) (LD)

DEPUTY CONVENER

*lan McKee (Lothians) (SNP)

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Jackson Carlaw (West of Scotland) (Con)
Malcolm Chisholm (Edinburgh North and Leith) (Lab)
*Bob Doris (Glasgow) (SNP)
*Helen Eadie (Dunfermline East) (Lab)
*Tom McCabe (Hamilton South) (Lab)

COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTES

Bill Aitken (Glasgow) (Con) Ross Finnie (West of Scotland) (LD) Christopher Harvie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Elaine Smith (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab)

*attended

THE FOLLOWING ALSO ATTENDED:

Judith Morrison (Legal Adviser)

CLERK TO THE COMMITTEE

Shelagh McKinlay

ASSISTANT CLERK

Jake Thomas

LOC ATION

Committee Room 6

Scottish Parliament

Subordinate Legislation Committee

Tuesday 3 March 2009

[THE CONVENER opened the meeting at 14:15]

Decision on Taking Business in Private

The Convener (Jamie Stone): I welcome everyone to the eighth meeting of the committee in 2009. We have received apologies from Malcolm Chisholm and Jackson Carlaw. I remind everyone to put their mobiles off.

Item 1 is to consider the proposal that agenda item 8, which is consideration of a paper from Judith Morrison, Shelagh McKinlay and company, on the pilot for liaison with the Scottish Government on Scottish statutory instruments, be taken in private in order to enable a full and frank discussion. Is that agreed?

Members indicated agreement.

Health Boards (Membership and Elections) (Scotland) Bill: After Stage 2

14:15

The Convener: I will have to take this step by step because there is a lot in front of us today. We are considering the supplementary delegated powers memorandum provided by the Scottish Government following amendments made to the bill during stage 2. Under rule 9.7.9 of standing orders, we report on new or substantially altered delegated powers provisions following stage 2 consideration. Members might wish to note that the stage 3 debate on the bill will be held on 12 March, and that the deadline for lodging amendments is Friday 6 March, which is nearly upon us, so there is not a lot of time.

Sections 1(5) and 1(6) confer powers to specify the circumstances in which elected, appointed or councillor members must vacate office. Are we content that the delegated powers contained in sections 1(5) and 1(6) of the bill, as amended, are acceptable in principle, and that they are subject to negative procedure?

Helen Eadie (Dunfermline East) (Lab): No, convener, I am not content with that. This is one example of a power that is so significant that it should be subject to affirmative procedure. The issue has been debated here and in the Health and Sport Committee. It is unheard of for any minister to remove any elected member from any position in Scotland. If that were to be allowed in any particular case, the Parliament would want to take a view on it, and not simply allow a Government minister to do it by negative resolution. I hope that we can lodge a stage 3 amendment to that effect.

The Convener: Is your point about elected members? They are not hit by the provision, are they?

Ian McKee (Lothians) (SNP): My understanding is that the cabinet secretary yielded to the good arguments that we made at previous meetings and took elected members out of the equation, so we are really just talking about the ability to remove people whom the cabinet secretary has appointed in the first place. It seems reasonable that the cabinet secretary who appoints can dis-appoint.

Helen Eadie: Your point is reasonable, but paragraph 3 on page 3 of our legal brief does not make that clear. That is why I have raised the point today. The legal brief says that the issue could be controversial, and it is. I agree with lan McKee; I thought that the minister had yielded the

point at the Health and Sport Committee debate when we had that discussion. Paragraph 3 of page 3 of the legal brief says:

"For example, such a circumstance might be that Ministers consider that the member is not acting in the best interests of the NHS, so should be removed. The Committee might consider in relation to that flexibility, whether this can be justifiable, given that paragraph 2, Schedule 1 of the 1978 Act (as amended by section 1(2) of the Bill) provides that appointed members are appointed by Scottish Ministers, and councillor members are also appointed by Ministers, but following nomination by local authorities in the area of the Health Board."

The way I read that, it seems to apply to elected members as well. If I have made a mistake, I apologise to the committee for taking up time.

The Convener: No, that is all right.

I read that paragraph as mentioning two categories. The beginning of the paragraph mentions "appointed and councillor members". Those councillor members are chosen by their peers.

Tom McCabe (Hamilton South) (Lab): Is the distinction not that there will be people who are directly elected to the board, and other people, who have been elected to councils, who will be appointed by the minister to the health board? If the minister has taken care of the concern about the directly elected members, that is a good thing.

The Convener: That is how I read it.

Tom McCabe: Okay, but however the council-elected member, if I can call them that, gets on to the health board—I acknowledge that the minister appoints them—it would set quite a precedent if someone who has been democratically elected could then be removed from their position on the health board by a minister. That is quite a big decision to take. The minister might feel that there were good reasons for it, but, at the very least, there could be political reasons. Surely a safeguard would be that any intention to do that should be subject to affirmative rather than negative resolution. It would just be a safeguard, because taking that action is quite a big step.

Removing a health board member might be 100 per cent justified but, as we all know because of our experience, many people would claim different because it would become politics. It would be a politician who was being removed and the politician might not be of the same political hue as the minister.

lan McKee: I can see Tom McCabe's point that those people are elected to a council and then chosen by the council to be on the health board, but the fact remains that they will be appointed to the health board by the minister. If the minister appoints someone, they should be able to remove them. Presumably, as the decision to appoint a

health board member is not subject to affirmative resolution, the minister could choose right at the beginning not to appoint someone. The minister could say that they did not like the person. There would be political repercussions but, technically, if the minister appoints, then it is a ministerial appointment.

Helen Eadie: That is a reasonable argument, but it falls down because, if a minister has confidence in their decision they should not be afraid of the Parliament affirming that decision or otherwise. I still believe that the provision should be subject to affirmative rather than negative procedure. The minister might have good reason to remove someone from a health board, and Parliament might agree with it, but I still feel that affirmative procedure is right in this case.

Tom McCabe: Ian McKee makes a good point there. Surely if the minister has the power to appoint someone, they should have the power to deregister the same individual.

The fact remains that, the minute the minister appoints, the issue moves into the political arena to some degree, because they have appointed an existing politician. That brings consequences with it. Reversing that decision could be seen in different lights. It could be alleged that it is being done for the wrong reasons. It could be alleged that a view that that person had expressed or the approach that they had taken on the health board had been tainted by politics rather than being an objective assessment of the issues. So the decision to appoint in the first place brings consequences. We should not take the power away from the minister, but the minister should be required to explain any subsequent decision to Parliament in more detail.

Bob Doris (Glasgow) (SNP): I am not convinced. I take on board what Helen Eadie said about the minister being confident about why they were removing someone whom they had appointed from the health board, so why not require affirmative procedure. However, by that logic, we would require affirmative procedure for everything that Government does. We would say that the Government should be confident of what it was doing, so everything should be put through under affirmative procedure. So I am not totally convinced. It is in effect a power of patronage for the minister to appoint in the first place, so the same functions exist in terms of relieving that person of their post.

I also take on board what Tom McCabe said about the politicisation of dismissal, but when the Government goes to Parliament under affirmative procedure, Parliament is full of a variety of politicians and politics can surely be played on both sides of the fence. I do not think that that is a reason to use affirmative procedure. The health

board members in question might be elected councillors, but they are appointed to the health board, not directly elected to it, so I am not convinced that the power to remove them being subject to affirmative procedure would be the best way to go.

Helen Eadie: The Cabinet Secretary for Health and Wellbeing has acknowledged that it would be controversial if an elected representative were removed from any board. Usually, a member would be removed only in criminal circumstances or in the other circumstances that are outlined in our papers for this meeting.

All of us in the Parliament have scars caused by the mood of the public. People want their elected representatives, irrespective of how they reached their position, to be able to speak freely at meetings and not to feel under any kind of cosh. That is why I stick to my point and would be willing to press it to a vote. Affirmative procedure should be used in these cases. No work that the Parliament has done in recent years has been more important than this particular bill. It has galvanised public opinion; people feel very strongly about it.

Tom McCabe: I want to make it clear that such instances would be rare, and that in the vast majority of them the minister would take an objective decision. Once a minister has taken a decision, and if Parliament chooses to consider it, we have to be confident that even a Parliament made up of different politicians would be able to be objective. We need to be confident about that; otherwise, we should not be wasting our time on this.

From my experience of being a minister, I think that ministers will be objective. We need to be confident that, when the issue is serious enough, the Parliament can be equally objective.

lan McKee: I totally accept that the minister, from whichever party they came, would be objective. However, there will be circumstances—if this ministerial power were ever used—in which it would not be in the interests of the individual or of society for the issue to be debated in Parliament, as it would be under the affirmative procedure. We should take that into account. For example, the individual's health may have to be discussed.

The Convener: As I said earlier, the deadline for lodging amendments is Friday. We have had a good debate, and it will appear in the Official Report. I would rather not go to a division on this question, unless we absolutely have to. If Helen Eadie wishes, she could pursue the issue herself. She would be quite within her rights to do so.

What is being proposed is not hugely different from what has happened in the past. Helen, if we

were to report to the lead committee and to Parliament, making it clear that two different points of view arose in the committee—yours and lan McKee's—would that be sufficient for you?

Helen Eadie: Yes.

The Convener: Would that be all right with the clerks?

Shelagh McKinlay (Clerk): Yes.

The Convener: I undertake to ensure that our difference of opinion is flagged up. In our report, we should give our colleagues a steer to look at the *Official Report* of today's meeting, which will give the full flavour of our views.

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: All right, let us move on.

Are members content that section 2(1A) of the bill, which inserts section 105(2A) into the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978—to provide that election regulations shall be subject to affirmative procedure—is acceptable?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: An additional provision in section 2(2) of the bill will insert schedule 1A to the 1978 act. Paragraph 3(2) of that schedule will provide that, if election regulations specify a division of a health board area into more than one ward, the regulations must also specify the number of elected members to be elected in each electoral ward. Is that acceptable?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: Committee members can imagine that that issue is of some interest to me. Where I come from is part of a very large health board area.

Section 2(2) of the bill will also insert paragraph 4(1) of schedule 1A to the 1978 act. That will provide that election regulations must appoint an individual as the returning officer for each ward in which a board election is to be held. Is that acceptable?

Members indicated agreement.

14:30

The Convener: Amended provisions in section 2(2) of the bill will insert paragraphs 7 and 8(1) of schedule 1A to the 1978 act, in relation to election regulations. Is that acceptable?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: Those changes only clarify the drafting.

An additional provision in section 2(2) inserts paragraph 8(4) of schedule 1A to the 1978 act. If

election regulations provide for votes in a health board election to be cast only by post, the regulations must also provide for a system of personal identifiers to be used. If a traditional ballot is used—that is, a mixture of ballot box and postal ballot—then personal identifiers will not be required. Is that acceptable?

Members *indicated agreement*.

The Convener: An additional provision in section 2(2) of the bill will insert paragraph 9(2) of schedule 1A to the 1978 act. It will provide that election regulations may disqualify from being a candidate an individual who holds a post that is on a list of restricted posts. The list will be maintained by the health board concerned for that purpose. Is that acceptable?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: That is rather similar to what has happened in local government for many years.

In section 4, "Pilot scheme", amendments made to subsection (4) will amend the procedures in connection with a pilot order. Are members content to welcome the fact that the Government has amended section 4 of the bill in response to comments and recommendations made by this committee at stage 1?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: We have achieved a bit of a result there, and I think that we can pat ourselves gently on the back, if MSPs are allowed to do that.

Section 6, "Termination of pilot scheme", is where things get a bit more complicated. We discussed the issue at quite some length at stage 1. I will ask committee members whether they are content to draw two particular points to the attention of the lead committee and the Parliament.

The first concerns section 6(2) of the bill. Section 6(2) provides for the automatic repeal of sections 1 to 7 and paragraph 2 of the schedule if the pilot order is revoked, or on the day after the Parliament fails to resolve to approve a draft roll-out order. However, section 6 does not provide for the revocation of the pilot order in the event that the Parliament fails to approve a draft roll-out order—although it appears that that must be the effect of the repeal of sections 1 to 7. Do we agree to draw that point to the attention of the lead committee and the Parliament?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: The second point is this. If Parliament were to fail to approve a draft roll-out order, the bill does not appear to provide that, or make clear whether, on the automatic repeal of sections 1 to 7, the Scottish ministers are permitted any delegated powers to make any

further or consequential provisions that might be needed in regard to the pilot area arrangements. This is given that such arrangements for elections, or the reorganisation of the membership of health boards, may have been implemented up to the date of any rejection of a roll-out order, by virtue of the pilot order. That assumes that such powers are sought, or may require to be taken, by the Scottish ministers in those circumstances, which is a matter to be considered by the Government. Do we agree to draw that point, too, to the attention of the lead committee and the Parliament?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: We have to go through such issues at length, for the purposes of the record. Our clerks will also bring those matters directly to the attention of the Scottish Government, given the very tight timescales involved.

Section 7(1) of the bill is on powers to make a "roll-out order". A roll-out order in terms of section 7 of the bill shall be subject to the prescribed form of super-affirmative procedure—which has been described as "affirmative procedure with knobs on". Is that acceptable?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: On section 7(3A)(c), do we agree to ask the Government to explain urgently—after all, it is 3 March today and we need the response in sufficient time to meet the deadline for stage 3 amendments—why the period of 60 calendar days that is specified for Parliament and committee consideration of a proposed draft roll-out order does not exclude any days during which the Parliament is dissolved or in recess? We are putting the question because the effect may be to give an insufficient period for parliamentary consideration of a proposed draft roll-out order after it is laid.

lan McKee: I can see why the period does not exclude any days during which the Parliament is dissolved or in recess. Under certain circumstances, particularly if the order is laid just before the summer recess, the risk is that an inordinate length of time would be added to the passage of the legislation. We ought to take account of that before putting the question to the Government.

Helen Eadie: The difficulty in which we find ourselves is that this is the last meeting at which we can consider the Government's response to any request for further information. We should have a fall-back position. I suggest that that takes the form of a stage 3 amendment. If we receive a reassurance from the Government that makes everyone round the table happy, we can withdraw the amendment on the day. I propose that we proceed on that basis.

Tom McCabe: I agree with that. It is obvious why the Government has done that. That said, the fact that recess days are not included hampers the Parliament's ability to input to legislation. A contradiction is involved and it needs to be fixed, one way or another. As we have discussed, the 60-day period gives the Parliament the ability to input to legislation. However, if an instrument is laid immediately before the Parliament's summer recess, the 60-day period elapses before we resume. I can see why the Government is trying to avoid having a time period that goes on for ever, but there is a contradiction and it should be fixed.

Helen Eadie: The restriction will apply, no matter which Government is in power.

The Convener: Today is 3 March. If we were to write to the Government tomorrow, we should receive a swift response. Depending on the response, are members content to leave it to me as convener to decide whether to lodge a stage 3 amendment?

Helen Eadie: Yes.
Tom McCabe: Yes.

lan McKee: What is the wording of the amendment that you would lodge if the Government response is not satisfactory, convener?

The Convener: I would want to think about that. As Tom McCabe and Helen Eadie have said, we should have an amendment in our back pocket for use if necessary. I think that the response will be along the lines that Dr McKee suggests. That said, even if just to be tidy, we should have an amendment in hand.

lan McKee: Confident though I am in your impartiality, skills and intelligence, convener, I am slightly reluctant to back anyone in lodging an amendment that I have not seen.

The Convener: If you turn to page 16 of the legal brief, you will see the proposed wording of the amendment.

Ian McKee: I have read it, but surely it needs to be in the *Official Report*.

The Convener: Absolutely. There is no problem in ensuring that. The amendment, which would be in my name, proposes to amend section 7(3A)(c), on page 8, line 25, by adding at the end:

"(no account being taken of any time during which the Scottish Parliament is dissolved or is in recess)."

lan McKee: That is using a sledgehammer to crack a nut. We are concerned about legislation that might be introduced just before the summer recess. The amendment is more general than it needs to be.

Bob Doris: Perhaps we could be more specific. The time bar could apply to a period just before the summer recess. For example, we could say that the Government could not lay an instrument in the week before the recess.

The Convener: The clerk has said that an amendment could be drafted to take on board that point. Obviously, I would not move an amendment in the chamber without you guys having seen it and without you being happy with it.

Helen Eadie: Bob Doris's point is a good one. People get a bad taste in their mouths when legislation is introduced right on the cusp of a recess and parliamentarians are not given the opportunity to express a view that reflects public opinion. Perhaps the clerks can draft a revised amendment and circulate it to members for agreement. Once that is done, the amendment can be lodged.

The Convener: Helen Eadie made the point clearly. If we all coalesce on what she said, would that be acceptable guidance for the clerks?

Shelagh McKinlay: We have no problem in drafting an amendment for members to consider informally.

The Convener: Have you got the steer that you need from us?

Shelagh McKinlay: Yes.

Ian McKee: Is there any precedent for lodging such amendments?

The Convener: There are precedents. I think that we did something similar about a year ago.

Judith Morrison (Legal Adviser): We lodged an amendment during stage 3 of the Glasgow Commonwealth Games Bill.

The Convener: That is right.

Ian McKee: Was there a similar process?

The Convener: Yes.

Helen Eadie: On that occasion, did you not seek leave to withdraw the amendment, convener?

The Convener: I did, but only with the consent of committee members. As members might recollect, I was hurtling around the chamber to seek your agreement before I did that.

Helen Eadie: That is right. I remember that.

Bob Doris: First, I would like to see the reassurance that the Government gives us. In proposing the wording "one week", my intention was for the wording to be less open-ended than that of the proposed draft amendment.

The Convener: I suggest that we write to the Government along the lines that I have set out and that we do that as quickly as is humanly possible. Depending on the reply, I further propose that the clerks frame an amendment—I hope that I am being clear—that is not as blunt as the amendment in our legal brief but will take account of our concern about the long summer recess and undue delay. I will leave the actual wording to the wordsmiths.

Tom McCabe: I suggest that we go for a twoweek window before the summer recess. If an instrument is laid before any other recess, two weeks are lost in any case. If we were to suggest such a restriction, the effect would be the same for all recesses—with the exception of the February recess, which is only one week.

The Convener: I have no intention of standing up in the chamber and speaking to an amendment for the glory of the moment or just to annoy the Government. I am not volunteering to do this for fun. I hope that we do not have to lodge an amendment, but if we come to that moment of truth, I would not be happy to stand up and speak to the amendment unless I had pretty much the unanimous support of the committee. If a section of the committee is deeply unhappy with the idea, it will not fly.

Helen Eadie: Members on both sides of the argument acknowledge the problem and agree that something needs to be done. As Bob Doris said, the Government's response will be helpful in any solution. Perhaps its observation will solve the problem, but we should have a back-stop nonetheless.

The Convener: Are members content with that?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: I thought that there were two further questions for the committee, but I have put them. We have got ahead of ourselves. Is that not clever?

Sexual Offences (Scotland) Bill: After Stage 1

14:44

The Convener: Item 3 is consideration of the Sexual Offences (Scotland) Bill. In December last year we reported on the delegated powers provisions in the bill at stage 1. We have received the Cabinet Secretary for Justice's response to our report. I am pretty pleased with the response. When I read it, I thought, "That is good." If anyone ever poses the question of what the Subordinate Legislation Committee does, I will tell them that we do things like this.

lan McKee: Sexual offences will now be on your curriculum vitae, convener.

The Convener: I will move swiftly on, Dr McKee.

Are members content to note the response and to return to our consideration of the bill after stage 2?

Members indicated agreement.

Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Bill

14:45

The Convener: Item 4 is our consideration of the powers to make subordinate legislation that are conferred on the Scottish ministers under the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Bill, which is United Kingdom legislation. We will focus our consideration on clause 65, on the provision of services by the proposed young people's learning agency for England, and on clause 103, on the provision of services by the proposed skills funding agency. Are members content that the delegation of powers under clauses 65 and 103, and the order-making provision under clause 248, are acceptable and that negative procedure provides the appropriate level of scrutiny in this case?

Members indicated agreement.

Draft Instruments Subject to Approval

Housing Support Grant (Scotland) Order 2009 (Draft)

Advice and Assistance and Civil Legal Aid (Financial Conditions and Contributions) (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (Draft)

Bankruptcy and Diligence etc (Scotland) Act 2007 (Inhibition) Order 2009 (Draft)

Renewables Obligation (Scotland) Order 2009 (Draft)

14:45

The committee agreed that no points arose on the instruments.

Instruments Subject to Annulment

Victim Statements (Prescribed Offences) (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/31)

14:46

The Convener: Item 6 is consideration of Scottish statutory instruments that are subject to annulment, the first of which has points arising.

Are members content to report the order to the lead committee and the Parliament as defectively drafted?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: The committee may wish to note that the order will be revoked by the Victim Statements (Prescribed Offences) (No 2) (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/71), but not until 1 April 2009.

Helen Eadie: Not a week goes by but our papers include an order that is defectively drafted.

The Convener: I know. Oh well, in this case, all will be put in place on April fools' day.

Victim Statements (Prescribed Offences) (No 2) (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/71)

The Convener: Are we content with the order, which revokes SSI 2009/31?

Members indicated agreement.

Regulation of Care (Miscellaneous Amendments) (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/32)

The Convener: Are we content to report to the lead committee and to Parliament that we welcome the Government's offer to consider clarifying the terms of the explanatory note, given the differences between the Regulation of Care as to (Requirements Limited Registration Services) (Scotland) Regulations (SSI 2003/150), the Regulation of Care (Requirements as to Care Services) (Scotland) Regulations 2002 (SSI 2002/114), and the Regulation of Care and (Registration Registers) (Scotland) Regulations 2002 (SSI 2002/115)?

Members indicated agreement.

Absent Voting at Scottish Local Government Elections (Provision of Personal Identifiers) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/35)

The Convener: Three questions arise on the regulations. The first is whether members are

content to report the regulations to the lead committee and the Parliament on the ground that due consideration should be given to the scheduling of related instruments to avoid reference to matters that are conditional on future events, where possible and as a matter of good drafting practice?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: Are members also content to report the regulations to the lead committee and the Parliament on the ground that there is sufficient doubt as to whether the power in section 23(2)(c) can be supplemented by the power in section 61(2) so as to permit ministers to specify disclosure by the returning officer? If so, are we agreed that there is also doubt as to whether regulation 18A(2) of the Representation of the People (Absent Voting at Local Government Elections) (Scotland) Regulations 2007 (SSI 2007/170), as inserted by regulation 10 of these regulations, is within vires?

Members indicated agreement.

The Convener: Following this item, there will be a short examination to check whether members have understood everything.

Finally, are members content to report the regulations to the lead committee and the Parliament on the ground that the use of unnecessary definitions is a failure to follow normal drafting practice?

Members indicated agreement.

National Health Service (Charges for Drugs and Appliances) (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/37)

The Convener: Are members content to draw the regulations to the attention of the lead committee and the Parliament on the ground that there has been a failure to follow proper drafting practice in that the citation of section 27(1) of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 in the preamble appears inappropriate?

Members indicated agreement.

Non-Domestic Rates (Levying) (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/42)

Housing Revenue Account General Fund Contribution Limits (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/43)

Home Energy Assistance Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/48)

Advice and Assistance and Civil Legal Aid (Priority of Debts) (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/49)

Registration of Births, Deaths and Marriages (Fees) (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/65)

Arrestment Jurisdiction (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/66)

Diligence (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (SSI 2009/68)

The committee agreed that no points arose on the instruments.

Instruments not laid before the Parliament

Specified Animal Pathogens (Scotland) Order 2009 (SSI 2009/45)

Education (Listed Bodies) (Scotland) Amendment Order 2009 (SSI 2009/60)

Education (Recognised Bodies) (Scotland)
Amendment Order 2009 (SSI 2009/61)

Act of Sederunt (Rules of the Court of Session Amendment) (Miscellaneous) 2009 (SSI 2009/63)

The committee agreed that no points arose on the instruments.

The Convener: With thanks to the official report, we move into private session.

14:50

Meeting continued in private until 14:55.

Members who would like a printed copy of the *Official Report* to be forwarded to them should give notice at the Document Supply Centre.

No proofs of the *Official Report* can be supplied. Members who want to suggest corrections for the archive edition should mark them clearly in the daily edition, and send it to the Official Report, Scottish Parliament, Edinburgh EH99 1SP. Suggested corrections in any other form cannot be accepted.

The deadline for corrections to this edition is:

Wednesday 11 March 2009

PRICES AND SUBSCRIPTION RATES

OFFICIAL REPORT daily editions

Single copies: £5.00

Meetings of the Parliament annual subscriptions: £350.00

The archive edition of the Official Report of meetings of the Parliament, written answers and public meetings of committees will be published on CD-ROM.

WRITTEN ANSWERS TO PARLIAMENTARY QUESTIONS weekly compilation

Single copies: £3.75

Annual subscriptions: £150.00

Standing orders will be accepted at Document Supply.

Published in Edinburgh by RR Donnelley and available from:

Blackwell's Bookshop

53 South Bridge Edinburgh EH1 1YS 0131 622 8222

Blackwell's Bookshops: 243-244 High Holborn London WC 1 7DZ Tel 020 7831 9501

All trade orders for Scottish Parliament documents should be placed through Blackwell's Edinburgh.

Blackwell's Scottish Parliament Documentation Helpline may be able to assist with additional information on publications of or about the Scottish Parliament, their availability and cost:

Telephone orders and inquiries 0131 622 8283 or 0131 622 8258

Fax orders 0131 557 8149

E-mail orders business.edinburgh@blackwell.co.uk

Subscriptions & Standing Orders business.edinburgh@blackwell.co.uk

Scottish Parliament

RNI D Typetalk calls welcome on 18001 0131 348 5000 Textphone 0845 270 0152

sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk

All documents are available on the Scottish Parliament website at:

www.scottish.parliament.uk

Accredited Agents (see Yellow Pages)

and through good booksellers

Printed in Scotland by RR Donnelley